## The Constitution of the Faculty

approved by the Faculty May 2019

## **PREAMBLE**

We, the faculty of the College of Liberal Arts at California State University, Long Beach, adopt this Constitution in order to establish and define an organizational structure to promote, through orderly and equitable internal governance, an environment for faculty and students which is conducive to the achievement of academic excellence and academic freedom. The faculty and students of the College of Liberal Arts constitute a community of teachers and scholars within the University whose interest is best served through the continuous exercise of the maximum degree of self-governance consonant with the legitimate authority granted to the Trustees of the the California State University and their

- 2.2 Faculty representatives from an academic area shall be elected from the full-time
- faculty of the area by a majority of votes cast in a secret ballot by the full-time members
- of the area. Academic areas shall elect alternates in the same manner to serve in the
- absence of the elected representative.
- 2.3 Two additional representatives shall be part-time faculty elected at large from among
- 97 the faculty holding part-time appointment in any of the academic areas of the College.
- 2.4 The Dean of the College shall be an ex officio, voting member of the Council.

140 2. Actions of all Standing Committees (other than specific Retention, Tenure, and

- Promotion actions, individual Sabbatical or Difference-in-Pay Leave recommendations, and
- individual Grade Appeal recommendations) may be reviewed by the Faculty Council.

## **Educational Policies and Curriculum Committee**

8.1. Membership

184

- a. The Educational Policies and Curriculum Committee shall have nine full-time faculty
- members and two alternates elected by the full-time faculty of the College.

- 231 alternate does not serve on the committee, this individual is eligible for election to the committee
- when the term ends.
- b. Members shall serve staggered 2-year terms and shall not be re-elected for more than two
- consecutive terms. Members are elected by the tenured and probationary faculty of the College.
- c. There shall be no more than two faculty members from any one academic area, who must also
- be at different ranks.
- d. Committee members may not serve on any other standing or ad hoc Retention, Tenure, and
- 238 Promotion Committee of the University.
- e. If Department Chairs or Program Directors serve on this committee, they will be
- recused from decisions involving any faculty from their departments or programs.
- f. Faculty participating in the Faculty Early Retirement Program (FERP) may serve
- on RTP committees if elected by majority vote and approved by the President, yet no
- 243 RTP committee may be comprised solely of faculty participating in the FERP.
- 9.2 <u>Duties and Functions</u>

a. The Retention, Tenure, and Promotion Committee, in accordance with provisions

elected by the Faculty Council.
b. There shall be no more than one faculty member from any one academic area. 

- b. Two thirds of the members of the committee must be full-time, tenured faculty of any rank. No
- more than one third of the members of the committee may be probationary faculty.
- c. No more than two members from any one department or program can serve on the RSCA
- 321 committee.
- d. Elected members of this committee may apply for MGSS awards if they do not serve on the
- 323 MGSS Sub-committee.
- 13.2. The MGSS sub-committee will have at least three members and one alternate elected by the
- members of the RSCA committee.
- a. Members of the sub-committee must be full-time, tenured faculty with either associate or full
- 327 professor rank.
- b. No more than one person from any department or program can serve on the MGSS sub-
- 329 committee
- c. Members of this committee may not apply for MGSS awards.
- 13.3. Duties and Functions.
- The RSCA committee will determine procedures for handling, reviewing, and ranking CLA
- 333 RSCA reassigned time applications. The committee forwards its final recommendations and
- rankings to the Dean of the College, who makes the final award determination.
- 13.4. The MGSS sub-committee determines procedures for handling, reviewing, and ranking
- 336 CLA MGSS applications. The committee forwards its final recommendations and rankings to the
- University MGSS Awards Committee, which makes the final award determination.

## 339 14. Graduate Council

340 14.1 Membership

- a. Each academic area with a graduate program shall be entitled to have one faculty representative on
- the Graduate Council, normally understood to be that program's Graduate Advisor.
- b. Graduate students shall be entitled to have two non-voting representatives on the Graduate
- Council. The representatives must be CLA graduate students in good standing, and shall be selected
- by the CLA and/or ASI Student Councils to serve for a period of no more than one academic year.
- c. The CLA Associate Dean responsible for graduate studies shall be an ex officio voting member of
- the Graduate Council. The CLA Director of Graduate Studies, appointed by the Dean, shall also be
- an ex officio voting member of the Graduate Council.
- d. The Graduate Council shall elect a chairperson from its representatives for a one-year term.
- 350 14.2 Duties and Functions
- a. The Graduate Council shall meet at least once per semester. A quorum for Council actions shall
- consist of one-third of its voting members.
- b. The Graduate Council shall maintain oversight

- be understood to suffice for membership on the Graduate Council.
- 368
- 369 1.2. Ad-Hoc Committees
- 370 Ad-hoc Committees of the Faculty Council are formed with specific responsibilities and
- dissolve upon completion of those responsibilities. The formation of ad-hoc committees and the
- definition of the functions and responsibilities are determined by majority vote of the Faculty
- Council. Members of ad-hoc committees will be determined by vote of the Faculty Council at
- the time of formation of the committee.
- 2. Eligibility and Terms of Service
- Regular members of committees of the Faculty Council must be members of the Faculty
- Council. Members of standing committees shall be elected for a term of one year. Members
- of ad-hoc committees shall be elected for the period required to fulfill the function of the
- committee. In addition, one member of the elections committee may be appointed from
- outside the council if deemed necessary.
- 3. Internal Procedures
- Unless otherwise indicated, committees are free to establish their own procedures which
- include appropriate ad hoc or committee structuring. Committees may not, however, make
- substanti6561cm BT 50 0 0 dap Tj ET Q q 0.24 0 0 0.24 9.0142 593.6561 cm BT 40 24 0 0 0.2 (dur) -7 (e) 4 (s)

- related to faculty personnel issues. These issues include, but are not limited to, workload, pay
- equity, and Retention, Tenure and Promotion. In each area, the committee will:
- -- Find common issues across Departments in the College of Liberal Arts related to
- 420 faculty personnel issues
- -- Coordinate with administrators in the College of Liberal Arts in the gathering of
- 422 information,
- presentations to the Faculty Council, and the implementation of policies
- -- Make recommendations to the Faculty Council related to faculty personnel issues
- 425

441

- 426 5.3. Elections Committee
- 427 a. Membership
- The Committee shall consist of three to five members elected by the Faculty Council and serving
- 2-year staggered terms. The Chair of this committee and a majority of its members shall be on
- the Faculty Council.
- b. <u>Duties and Functions</u>
  - 1) The Elections Committee shall supervise all elections overseen by the Faculty
- Council including committees of the council, elections to college-wide committees conducted within the Faculty Council, and all college-wide elections within the College of Liberal Arts.
- The Elections Committee will not have responsibility for overseeing the confirmation of
- appointments by the Dean of the College of Liberal Arts.
- 2) Elections to college-wide committees conducted within the Faculty Council
- The Elections Committee will solicit nominations from the eligible faculty of CLA for the
- college-wide committees that are elected by members of the Faculty Council. The Elections
- Committee will organize a ballot without preference for any candidate, conduct elections, and
  - tabulate results for the election of members of these committees.
- 3) College-wide Elections
- The Elections Committee will solicit nominations from the eligible faculty for the
- college-wide committees that are elected by the general faculty of the College of Liberal Arts.
- The Elections Committee will organize a ballot without preference for any candidate, conduct

- 517 committee of the Area faculty.
- 5. When not otherwise specified in University or College documents, the faculty of an
- Academic Area may determine the proportionality of student representation on that Area's
- 520 committees and councils.

- 522 ARTICLE IV. ELECTIONS
- 1. <u>Election procedures</u>. Elections for College committees, and for University elections in
- which other procedures are not specifically mandated, shall meet the requirements and
- follow the procedures given below.
- 1.1 There shall be ample opportunity for nominations to be made by any member of the
- relevant constituency. The Faculty Council shall specify appropriate periods and
- 528 procedures for receipt of nominations for vacant offices.
- 529 1.2 Elections shall be by secret ballot.
- 1.3 Elections shall utilize "Single Transferable Vote Balloting", which is here defined as
- balloting which follows the procedures described below or which utilizes computer
- programming or mathematical calculation to mimic the procedures.
- a. In election of people to serve on a college or university body, all the qualified
- nominees are listed on one ballot, and voters rank order their choices.
- b. Ballots are counted in a series of tallies that proceed as follows:
- 536 (1) In a first tally, every ballot is allocated to its first (highest) choice.
- 537 (2) At the end of the first tally, and then at the end of each subsequent tally, one candidate
- is eliminated from the running either (in order of priority) (a) because heuse q-2 o/Tausi (20(t))ie22te40 185 -1i(

- due to resignation, leave of absence, or other cause. 2.1 The number of Stand-by Alternates electe

- by the full-time faculty of the College in a secret mail ballot.
- 2. As soon as possible after ratification, the Faculty Council shall be elected as provided in this
- Constitution and shall immediately become the authorized Faculty Council of the
- 613 College. Terms of service shall be counted as beginning in the semester subsequent to that in
- which the Council is elected. Half the membership shall be selected by lot to
- serve a one-year term so that the "staggered terms" provision of this Constitution may be
- 616 effected.
- 3. All Standing Committees shall then be selected as provided in this Constitution for terms
- to begin in the semester following ratification of this Constitution. Wherever
- "staggered terms" are called for, this shall be effected by lot.
- 4. Evaluation Committee
- 4.1 At the beginning of the fifth semester after ratification, the Chair of the Faculty
- 622 Council shall appoint, with the concurrence of the Council, an Evaluation Committee of
- at least six faculty members to meet and to evaluate the provisions of this document. The
- 608 Evaluation Committee shall work in consultation with the College's Faculty Council, its
- Standing Committees, and all faculty. This Evaluation Committee shall submit to the Council
- within a year a written report, which may include recommendations for Amendments to this
- 611 Constitution.
- 4.2 The College Council shall, at a regular meeting and as an item on its written agenda,
- consider the report, findings, and recommendations of the Evaluation Committee and take such